The Town of Moriah Town Board held their Regular Town Board Meeting on Thursday, May 10, 2018 at 6:00pm at the Town of Moriah Court House, 42 Park Place, Port Henry, New York.

Present:	Thomas Scozzafava Paul Salerno Thomas Anderson Lucille Carpenter Matt Brassard	Supervisor Councilman Councilman Councilwoman Councilman
	Matt Brassard	Councilman

**Others Present:** William Trybendis, Rene Anderson-Chamber, Andrea Anesi, Chip Perry-WWTP, Richard Lapier-Codes, Brandy Michener-Ambulance Squad, Lohrer McKinstry, Sharon O'Connor, Jamie Wilson-Highway, Gail Pilger, Ronnie Cunningham, Art Morgan-Water & Sewer, Lou Paris-Ambulance and Rose French-Town Clerk.

Supervisor Scozzafava opened the meeting at 6:00pm by saluting the flag.

**ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** that the Town of Moriah Town Board approved the minutes from the previous meeting.

The Supervisor presented a certificate of appreciation to Denise Daly for her years of service to the Village of Port Henry and Town of Moriah.

The Supervisor introduced special guests Brandy Michener and Lou Paris from the Town of Moriah Ambulance Squad. Brandy stated they just wanted to clarify a few questions that have been brought up regarding the ambulance squad. She stated that in 2017 they had 526 calls for service and since December 24, 2017 they have had a paid employee. They have been billing for 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> years, the billing company is EMR and they are out of Albany. The whole county uses this billing company. The rates are set by EMR and the insurance companies. The amount billed also depends on what type of service. The squad uses set codes to determine the rates billed. The squad gets money from billing and their mailer fund raiser, and that is it. Brandy stated that on June 2, 2018 the squad will hold a dinner and a basket raffle as a fund raiser. She also stated that they had to get a new ambulance, you might see it around Town. She asked if there were any questions. Councilwoman Carpenter asked if the money they raise stays in the squad and Lou Paris said yes. Councilman Anderson asked if the squad owns all the equipment and Mr. Paris said yes. The Supervisor stated that the hours required to become an EMT is what keeps people away from volunteering. Brandy stated it is about 170 hours. The Supervisor stated that the Town contracts with the Ambulance Squad, the Town pays for fuel, Workers Compensation for the Volunteers only, the squad pays for the Workers compensation on the paid employees, it is very expensive, that is why they started billing. The Supervisor stated that the squad only had 2 unanswered calls last year. Councilman Salenro asked if they billed when they were on scene for the fire last month, and Mr. Paris said no, there was no one to bill. They only bill if the person is transported. They have had some people refuse the service once they got there. The Supervisor stated that ambulance service is a huge problem county wide. There has been some talk of forming an ambulance district and the residents would be taxed for this service. He stated it would be roughly \$21.00 per household if it was county wide. Mr. Paris stated he is not sure how it would work. Lohrer McKinstry asked Mr. Paris what the rates were for billing. Mr. Paris stated they are different for different codes, different types of service and different types of insurance. He does know that the billing company takes out %10 and the squad gets what is left. Mr. McKinstry stated theoretically the rates could be very bad then. Mr. Paris stated that they use a code book, not sure who sets the rates. The Supervisor stated this would be a good topic for Mr. Mckinstry to look into. Councilman Brassard asked if the squad got 90% back and Mr. Paris said yes. The Supervisor asked if the EMR was the only billing company and Brandy stated as far as she knew. Councilman Anderson asked how many paid employees there were. Brandy stated she was full time and there were 3 part time people. He asked if they were local people and Brandy said yes. Mr. Paris stated the driver gets \$3.50/hr for being on call and if they actually get called out they get paid \$15.00/hr. The Supervisor asked how many volunteers they have and Mr. Paris stated 2-3. Gail Pilger asked who pays the salaries and Mr. Paris said the squad does and it is paid for by billing. Brandy stated she gets health, dental and eye

insurance. The Supervisor stated the Town wants no liability. Councilman Salerno thanked the Ambulance Squad for all their hard work.

The Supervisor stated we were supposed to have a 2<sup>nd</sup> guest speaker, Katy Elizabeth but she did not show up.

## Floor Open to the Public:

Gail Pilger asked about the free dump day pass. Her name is on 2 properties but she only got one ticket. The Supervisor stated that the original free dump day was not based on properties. The Town tried to make it easier on everyone by doing it this way. He feels Ms. Pilger should get 2 tickets. Jamie Wilson stated a lot of people are not sure what to bring. The Supervisor stated you get one free trip. Ms. Pilger asked if she could get 2 and the Supervisor said it was up to the Board. The Town Clerk asked if this was going to be decided on a case by case basis or was this the way it was going to be going forward. The Supervisor stated going forward. The Supervisor stated the purpose of this was to try and get properties cleaned up. He stated that in Ticonderoga when they have a free dump day the residents leave it on the side of the road and the Town picks it up. He told Ms. Pilger she was entitled to 2 passes.

Rene Anderson, Chamber President gave an update. The Flocking is over and it went great. Parking will be at the boat launch for Champ Day. Signs will be made up telling people where to park. They are looking for volunteers to be on committees for the Labor Day Celebration. The Supervisor stated he couldn't find any fishing tournaments for that day. Councilwoman Carpenter stated the Boat Regatta is that day.

### **Department Head Reports:**

Rich Lapier-Building Codes: Issued 2 building permits for the month of April. Issued 2 certificates of occupancy.

Jamie Wilson-Highway Superintendent: They have been busy sweeping and cutting trees down and they have also been helping the County out. They had a lot of trees down during the wind storm last Friday. There will be a free brush day at the Transfer Station on Friday June 1, 2018 and Saturday June 2, 2018.

Chip Perry-WWTP: Nothing to report.

Art Morgan-Water & Sewer Superintendent: The bid for the Witherbee sewer line replacement will be in the paper today. They have been doing some clean up. They replaced the water line for the Chamber; spicket; so they can water their flowers. Had to replace some sidewalk. Councilman Salerno asked if it was a drainage problem or did it freeze. Mr. Morgan stated it never froze. Councilman Brassard asked how many homes would be affected by the Witherbee Sewer line project and Mr. Morgan said roughly 20. Mr. Morgan stated the line is right in the middle of the road currently.

The Supervisor asked Mr. Perry about the slip line for manhole 13 and Mr. Perry stated the bids should go out Saturday and Sunday. This will wrap up this project. The Supervisor stated the bid will be awarded at the June town board meeting.

Mr. Morgan asked about the hydrant on the bottom of Convent Hill, can they replace it or do they have to wait for the insurance. The Supervisor said no, go ahead and fix it. Let the insurance fight it out.

Councilman Salerno stated that during the wind storm there was a power surge and Mr. Perry was having some issues at the WWTP but Mr. Perry stated those issues have since been resolved.

Councilman Salerno reported that on May 17<sup>th</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup>, Ed Roberts has made arrangements with Essex County DPW to use their bucket truck to hang veteran's banners and chamber banners. Building & Grounds have been busy cutting grass. Pepper Field is still too wet. During the wind storm there was extensive damage done to the gazebo at Raymond Wright Park. The Supervisor reported the Town has a \$2,500 deductible. Art Morgan stated the tree that fell on it has been removed and also all the damaged lumber and it looks good. The Supervisor asked the Board

what they want to do, leave it as it is or replace it and the Board was in agreement that it should be replaced.

The Supervisor stated that the Union Cemetery across from the school is in fear of being abandoned because they can't get anybody to sit on their Board; it's not for lack of funds. The Supervisor stated that if it is abandoned it becomes the Town's responsibility. If you are interested in serving on the Board please contact Charlie Tarek at 518-962-8951. They need 5 Board members. Councilman Anderson asked the Supervisor if he was sure it didn't have anything to do with money and the Supervisor said no. The Supervisor stated he will have more information for the June meeting.

Councilman Salerno reported that it is very hard for Ed to get the inmates now that the State campsites are open. Road side cleanup will begin soon. The Supervisor suggested that Ed get in contact with the Justices to see if they have anybody that could do community service.

Councilwoman Carpenter read the police report:

Handled 166 calls for service:

7 Violations:2-disorderly conduct2-trespass2-disorderly conduct1-permitting a dog to run at large

4 Misdemeanors:4-issuing bad checks

**0** Felonies

Issued 18 Traffic Tickets

Handled 5 Traffic Accidents

Conducted 19 pistol permit background investigations.

The Supervisor stated that during budget time, the Board and the Residents of the Town of Moriah will have to seriously consider increasing the size of the Police Department if we want to keep it, it is just getting to hard to run with 2 officers.

#### **Town Board Report's:**

Councilman Anderson reported that the Youth Commission met on May 7<sup>th</sup>.

**86. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to hire Ronnie Cunningham as Assistant Director and Cecelia Briggs as Activities Coordinator for the 2018 Summer Youth Program.

They will be interviewing applicants for the Counselor positions. The summer program will run from 7/9/18-8/9/18, it is a five week program. August 10, 2018 will be the last day for the counselors only. Mr. Anderson stated that Ronnie Cunningham is almost done with RT training. The Supervisor stated that Vermont passed a law to increase minimum wage for high school students, that is what hurt our YCC program.

Councilman Brassard has been in contact with Paraglide New England regarding Bulwagga Bay Campsite. Their insurance is good until September 2019. The Town needs to decide if they want to charge them \$5.00 per flight or \$1,900.00 for the whole season. The Supervisor stated they are using our property to train people to do tandem flights. Councilwoman Carpenter asked if this was for one year only and the Supervisor said yes. It would be from 8:00am – 7:00pm,

Spring – Fall. Jamie Wilson feels we need more information. Councilman Salerno asked if it was just the point at Bulwagga Bay and what is the point defined as. The Supervisor feels we should at least try it for one year; it makes the Town a destination. He feels we should tell them we want \$2,000.00 a season and they have to provide us with a daily sheet of how many flights they are doing daily. Rich Lapier stated the parking would be near the basketball court. The Supervisor feels doing it at the point will not infringe on any campers. He feels the Managers should be able to handle it.

**87. ON MOTION** by Supervisor Scozzafava, seconded by Councilman Salerno, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to allow Paraglide New England to use Bulwagga Bay Campsite for one season for \$2,000.00 per season and provide the Town of Moriah with a daily sheet of flights.

Councilman Brassard reported that the Main Street Grant is almost complete. Should have the finished copy by the June Board meeting. So far Frank Slycord is the only business owner interested. The Lee House is in limbo due to the fire. Gail Pilger stated she went to this meeting and it is misleading because you are not guaranteed the \$75,000, you can get up to it but you have to come up with the money first. The Supervisor stated that this process is just a stepping stone for the grant. Councilman Brassard stated he wasn't sure about the old church on Henry Street and the Supervisor stated he believes it is too far off of Main Street.

Councilman Salerno reported there is a lot of dead fish on the beach at Champ RV Park. The Supervisor stated the Town has no control over that. Councilman Salerno asked if the workers could pick them up. The Supervisor said no, let nature take its course. Councilman Brassard stated that the Village of Port Henry used to pick them up with the loader. Rich Lapier stated we do not have the man power to do that. Councilman Anderson stated we can't just leave them there rotting and smelling up the beach. The Supervisor asked Councilman Salerno to handle the problem.

Councilwoman Carpenter reported there is a resolution at the end of tonight's meeting to sign the contract with Jeff Popp for the Iron Center Door replacement. The next Waterfront Development meeting with the Town Board is May 24, 2018 at 6:00pm. Rene Anderson asked where the meeting was and Councilwoman Carpenter stated it will be at the Court House.

# Supervisor's Report:

The Supervisor received an email from Greg Cunningham regarding the burnt out building located on 4314 Main Street. The Supervisor stated that residents keep asking what is going on with the building. The building does not belong to the Town of Moriah. It is private poperty. The Town has to take legal steps regarding this building. The Supervisor has been in contact with the Town Attorney. If the Town ends up having to take this building down it will cost at least 6 figures to do it. The Supervisor is trying to avoid this. He spoke to Mr. Cunningham regarding bidders/contractors that are interested in doing the work. He has also met with Jamie Wilson and Rich Lapier; it is very frustrating. Councilman Carpenter asked what the recourse would be and the Supervisor stated the Town would have to file a lien against the property. The Supervisor reported he has a couple of parties who are interested in the property as is, but he cannot force anyone. Rich Lapier stated the Town cannot do anything until May 29, 2018. The Supervisor stated the Attorney will charge \$275.00/hr if it goes to court.

The Supervisor received a letter from the NYS DEC regarding the Order on Consent Extension. The Supervisor will go over this with Chip Perry and Art Morgan regarding the wastewater collection system.

The Supervisor reported that the Assessor's will not be moving up to the Village Hall. The Board talked about adding onto the Court House for the Assessor's, however, Rich Lapier came up with a list of materials to have BOCES build a separate building where the skating rink is and it is roughly \$13,000 for lumber and \$11,000 for the foundation. Councilman Anderson asked if it would be connected to the Court House and the Supervisor said no it would be a separate building. Councilwoman Carpenter asked if the renovations on the old Village Hall would be

more expensive. The Supervisor stated not only that, the Assessor's really need to be near the Town Hall. Councilman Anderson stated he thought Soil & Water were going to move into the old Village Hall and the Supervisor said no, they got a grant of their own for the Westport Fair Grounds. The Board was in agreement with a new building for the Assessor's.

The Supervisor spoke to Art Morgan; the Town is under a consent order for Grover Hills regarding sump pumps. Letters will go out to the residents and then there will be an inspection.

The Supervisor received an update from Hudson Headwaters Health Network. Paving should be completed this summer-staff parking. Looking for another doctor to be there more than one day a week.

There will be a household hazardous waste day on Saturday July 28, 2018 from 8:00am – 1:00pm at the Town of Moriah Highway Garage. It is open to residents of Essex County.

There will be a survey to the residents of Port Henry Water District as part of a grant application process to fix water lines in Port Henry on First Street, Second Street, Third Street, Oak and Ridge Lane and part of College Street and also for wastewater outside of Port Henry.

Jamie Wilson attended a pre-construction meeting for the sidewalk project in Port Henry. The trees will be taken out and transplanted and will be replaced with new ones. Tom Trow is in charge of the trees, if you have any questions about them, please contact him

The Town did not get the grant for Henry's garage (Port Henry Fire Department) on Church Street which would have helped due to all the repairs that need to be done.

Frank Slycrod, Port Henry Fire District #3, Commissioner Chairman, sent a letter to all departments to see if there was any interest in a consolidation study. Sharon O'Connor Mineville/Witherbee Fire Department stated her department is interested in the "Study".

Bulwagga Bay Campsite and Champ RV Park Beaches will be open five days a week-each. There will be 2 lifeguards at each beach, both beaches will be open on the weekends. Both will be closed 2 days a week but not at the same time so at least one is open. Both beaches will be open July  $4^{\text{th}}$ . Hours are 11:00am – 6:00pm; 35 hrs per week.

The Senior Center at the Train Station and the Iron Center Museum are in desperate need of volunteers. If you are interested in the Senior Center please contact Patsy McCaughin at 518 546-7941 or if you are interested in the Iron Center Museum please contact Betty Lamoria at 518-546-3587.

# **Resolutions:**

**88. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to authorize the Supervisor to sign contract with Mannix Marketing for on line promotion of Bulwagga Bay Campsite; \$950.00 for one year.

Discussion: Bulwagga Bay Campsite is down 20 Seasonal Campers. Michael Crane researched this site, he thinks this will help. Councilwoman Carpenter stated we are going to have to pay for the publicity.

**89. ON MOTION** by Councilwoman Carpenter, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to authorize the Supervisor to sign contract with ROOST for Central Reservation System for Campgrounds up to \$250.00 for one year.

Discussion: This is something that the campsites need when it gets busy. Councilman Brassard asked if this was for transients only and the Supervisor said yes.

**90. ON MOTION** by Councilman Salerno, seconded by Councilman Anderson, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to offer a season rate for "pump outs" at both RV Parks; \$280.00 1 unit; \$380.00 2 units.

Discussion: The Supervisor feels we will get more revenue this way. 1 unit = 1 tank, 2 units = 2 tanks.

**91. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Supervisor Scozzafava, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to refund Seasonal Camper Zina Mayer in the amount of \$1,950.00.

Discussion: She had personal circumstances that warranted the refund.

**92. ON MOTION** by Councilman Salerno, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to authorize the County of Essex to take ownership of a .64 mile portion of Broad Street located in the Town of Moriah from the Town of Moriah and to incorporate the same into the county road system.

*WHEREAS*, by virtue of the dissolution of the Village of Port Henry, a .64 mile portion of Broad Street which was once a village road has been transferred to the Town of Moriah; and

*WHEREAS*, the Town of Moriah is desirous of deeding ownership of this .64 mile length of Broad Street to the County of Essex; and

*WHEREAS*, Christopher Garrow, Superintendent of the Essex County Department of Public Works has agreed to this transfer.

**BE IT RESOVLED**, that the Essex County Board of Supervisors hereby agrees to accept a .64 mile stretch of road located on Broad Street in the Town of Moriah and to incorporate the same into the County Road System and amend the County map system pursuant to \$115 of the Highway Law upon proper resolution presented by the Town of Moriah and upon delivery of a deed deeding this portion of property to the Town of Moriah.

**93. ON MOTION** by Councilwoman Carpenter, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVED Ayes Scozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, Brassard 0

**RESOLVED** to issue a vendor permit to Bernard Beebe to sell fire wood at both campsites; \$25.00.

**94. ON MOTION** by Councilwoman Carpenter, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVED AyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to issue vendor permit to Keystone Fireworks to sell fireworks at Sleeper's Garage, 4242 Main Street, Port Henry from 6/28/18 – 7/5/18; \$25.00.

95. ON MOTION by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was APPROVED Ayes Scozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, Brassard

Nays 0

**RESOLVED** to authorize the Town of Moriah Chamber of Commerce to hold a coin drop on Main Street in Port Henry on June 30, 2018.

**96. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** authorization to use \$125,000.00 Grant to rebuild Tarbell Hill Pump Station.

Discussion: The Town cannot use this money for Water District #3. Art Morgan & Chip Perry suggested the Tarbell Hill Pump Station. The Dormitory Authority of the State of New York agreed.

**97. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to authorize the Supervisor to sign contract with Jeff Popp for work at the Iron Center as per bid specifications.

Discussion: Jeff Popp was the low bidder.

**98. ON MOTION** by Councilman Anderson, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to refund Amber Taylor \$194.80 for 2018 relevy for sewer operation and maintenance charges from 2017.

**99. ON MOTION** by Councilman Salerno, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** authorization to go to bid for Witherbee Sewer Line Replacement; bid opening Friday, June 8, 2018 at 10:00am.

**100. ON MOTION** by Councilwoman Carpenter, seconded by Councilman Salerno, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** authorization for Supervisor to work with Town Attorney regarding surplus and sale of fire house on Church Street and former Village Hall on Main Street as surplus properties.

Discussion: The Supervisor stated that the fire house is a financial burden to the Town of Moriah. He would like to declare it surplus and then put it out to bid; if the Board decides to do this it would be subject to permissive referendum, this would include the old Village Hall as well. The Department of Motor Vehicles may be interested in the old Village Hall as a site. The Ambulance Squad has expressed some interest also. The Supervisor stated the Town is building poor right now. Councilman Brassard stated that if the fire department wants to keep the building they can always buy it and the Supervisor said yes. Councilman Brassard asked when the fire departments lease runs out and the Supervisor stated at the end of the year.

**101. ON MOTION** by Councilman Salerno, seconded by Councilman Brassard, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to adopt Local Law #1 of 2018 extending Local Law #2 of 2017 extending the Moratorium on Street Level Residential Development for a one year period.

### **Resolutions too late for the Agenda:**

**103. ON MOTION** by Councilman Brassard, seconded by Councilwoman Carpenter, the following resolution was

APPROVEDAyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to go to bid for the Trunk Sewer Cured-In-Place-Pipe (CIPP) Lining for Manhole 13.

#### Floor open to the public:

Councilwoman Carpenter asks that the public be patient while she gets the meetings on the access channel and YouTube. Cecelia Wojciukiewicz asked if there was a certain day it is supposed to run on channel 1302 and Supervisor Scozzafava said no, we have no control over when the school gets it on. Ms. Wojciukiewicz is afraid that a lot of residents are missing all the important information because they don't have Facebook or YouTube. The Supervisor asked Lohrer McKinstry if he could work with Councilwoman Carpenter to find an easier way to do this process; maybe get new equipment.

 104. ON MOTION by Councilman Brassard, seconded by Councilman Anderson, the following resolution was APPROVED Ayes Scozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, Brassa

AyesScozzafava, Salerno, Anderson, Carpenter, BrassardNays0

**RESOLVED** to reduce rates for transients at Bulwagga Bay Campsite and Champ RV Park to \$25.00 Sunday – Thursday and \$35.00 Friday – Saturday, excluding Holiday Weekends effective immediately.

Discussion: Art Morgan asked how the campsites knew already that we were losing campers and Councilwoman Carpenter stated we are down 20 seasonal sites.

Andrea Anesi would like to thank the Board for passing a resolution protecting Champ.

The meeting adjourned at 7:50pm.

Abstract Distributions:		Claim Numbers:
<u>April 19, 2018</u>		
General	\$160.00	2018/572-573
<u>April 24, 2018</u>		
General	\$6,103.51	2018/574-603
Highway	\$71.25	
Water #1	\$215.49	
Water #2	\$154.49	
Water #3	\$1,137.48	
Water #4	\$20.32	
Sewer #1	\$334.76	
Sewer #2	\$208.70	
May 2, 2018		

General	\$1,050.00		2018/625	
May 10, 2018				
General Highway Fire Protection Water #1 Water #2 Water #3 Water #4 Sewer #1 Sewer #2	\$67,634.10 \$24,740.48 \$52,000.00 \$3,600.89 \$2,983.93 \$2,308.50 \$257.84 \$9,275.73 \$4,915.47		2018/608-77	9
Capital Projects:				
Waterfront Development		Denton Publications Michael Crane Press Republican	\$47.44 \$6,250.00 \$42.40	#6 #7 #8
Witherbee Sewer Project		Cedarwood Engineering Ludemann & McMorris	\$4,265.00 \$550.00	#4 #5

Town Clerk